
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 

COMMISSION 
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  v. 

 

DONALD ANTHONY WALKER YOUNG, 

ET AL.  
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OAK GROVE PARTNERS, L.P., 

NEELY YOUNG, AND W.B. DIXON 

STROUD JR., 

  

                        Relief Defendants 
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Civil Action No.: 2:09-cv-01634-JP 
 
 

 

REPORT OF RECEIVER LOUIS C. BECHTLE 

 

 Louis C. Bechtle, Receiver for the Assets and Records of Acorn II, LP, Acorn Capital 

Management, LLC., Donald Anthony Walker Young, and Neely A. Young (the “Receivership 

Entities”), submits this report pursuant to the Court’s Order dated June 25, 2009.  During the 

current reporting period the Receiver brought in approximately $2.2 million, and finalized a 

settlement with a group of investors in which the Receivership will receive an additional $5.5 

million that will be available for future distribution.   

A significant focus of the Receiver’s recent work has involved, with the assistance of the 

SEC, discussions with representatives of the IRS and the Department of Justice in an attempt to 

resolve potential tax liabilities in order to ensure that all of the funds collected will be available 

for distribution.  Specifically, the Receiver has sought a closing agreement from the IRS similar 

to those the IRS has previously entered with other federal receivers that would make clear that 
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the Receiver and the Receivership Estate have no liability for federal taxes under the 

circumstances of this case.  Negotiations between the IRS and the Receiver concerning a closing 

agreement have been ongoing for nearly a year, but the IRS to date has declined to enter a 

closing agreement.  The Receiver’s tax attorneys, with the assistance of the SEC, are continuing 

their attempts to resolve this issue with the IRS.  It is the lack of firm resolution of this tax matter 

that has to date caused the Receiver to hold off on filing another motion for distribution to 

investors/creditors. 

I.  BACKGROUND 

On April 17, 2009, the Securities and Exchange Commission filed an action against  

Donald Anthony Walker Young (“DA Young”), Acorn Capital Management, LLC and Acorn II, 

LP (collectively “the Acorn Entities”), alleging various securities violations arising out of the 

defendant’s fraudulent investment activity.1      

On June 25, 2009 this Court entered an Order Appointing Receiver (“Receivership 

Order”) pursuant to which the Court took exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the 

Defendants’ assets, monies, securities, choses in action, and properties, real and personal, 

tangible and intangible, of whatever kind and description, wherever situated, and any entities that 

the Defendants own or control or in which either of them have an interest (the “Receivership 

Assets”), as well as the Defendants’ books, records, computers, and documents (the 

“Receivership Records”).  In the same order, Louis C. Bechtle was appointed Receiver for the 

Receivership Assets and Records (collectively, the “Receivership Estate”), with the goal and 

purpose of marshalling the Receivership Assets to maximize the recovery of funds to be 

distributed to defrauded investors and creditors.   

                                                 
1 On July 20, 2010, D.A. Young pled guilty to a one count of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 and one 
count of money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1957.  See Case No. 2:10-cr-00199-JS.   
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II. CASE STATUS 

A. Cash Balances as of September 30, 2012  

The Receiver has consolidated substantially all liquid funds into a central Receivership 

Account and an Operating Account.  The main Receivership account continues to be held at 

Merrill Lynch, which as of September 30, 2012 held a balance of $8,079,609.39.  The Receiver 

also continues to maintain an operating account in a Bank of America checking account, with a 

cash balance of $706,779.81.  In addition to these primary accounts, the Receiver also maintains 

Donald Young’s Alliance Bernstein Simple IRA account, which as of June 30, 2012 held a 

balance of $5,981.36.2  The combined value of the Receivership accounts as of September 30, 

2012 was $8,792,370.56.  For further details, the Receiver has attached the SEC’s Standardized 

Fund Accounting Report (“SFAR”) for the period covering April 1, 2012 through September 30, 

2012 as Exhibit A to this Report.3             

B. Receivership Cash Flow – Sources and Uses of Funds 

1. Current Reporting Period (April 1, 2012 – September 30, 2012) 

During the current reporting period, the Receiver brought $2,203,433.72 into the fund 

through litigation efforts, settlements and other income.  (See Ex. A).    The professional fees 

paid in connection with the last fee application (No. 11) covering January through March of 2012 

were $142,201.65.4 

 

 

 

                                                 
2 These statements issue quarterly, and a more recent statement was not available as of the date of this filing. 
3 This SFAR covers a six month period because the Receiver did not file a report and fee application at the close of 
the quarter ending June 30, 2012. 
4 The Receiver estimates that from April through September of 2012, the Receiver has incurred approximately 
$193,000 in professional fees. 



4 
 

2. From Inception through June 30, 2012 

The Receiver has recovered a combined $24,752,250 from all sources.  Of those funds, 

approximately $11,000,000 have been distributed to investors.5  The Receiver and all 

professionals retained by the Receiver have been paid a combined $4,500,336 to date.  These 

payments to professionals represent roughly 18.18% of the funds recovered by the Receiver 

through September 30, 2012.  When including the fees that have been accrued but not yet 

requested from the court, as well as the total holdback amount, the total professional fees equal 

approximately 22.8% of all funds recovered to date.  A table summarizing this financial history, 

reflecting the sources and uses of all funds since the inception of the Receivership, is attached as 

Exhibit B to this Report. 

C. Litigation Activity 

The Receiver continues to pursue the recovery of Receivership assets through litigation 

and pre-litigation measures.  Through his litigation efforts, the Receiver recovered approximately 

$12,599,920 between the inception of the Receivership and September 30, 2012.  The Receiver 

expects to secure substantial additional funds by year end as a result of settlements described 

more fully in the “Investor Claims” section below.  The Receiver’s litigation activity is described 

generally by category below.  The Receiver certifies that such activity is likely to produce and/or 

has produced a net economic benefit to the estate, based on the receiver’s review of: (i) the legal 

theories upon which each action is based; (ii) the likelihood of collection on any judgment which 

might be obtained; and (iii) consideration of alternative methods of seeking the relief.   

 

 

                                                 
5 A small amount of the most recent distribution was held back pending resolution of a dispute with an investor that 
otherwise would have received a distribution. 
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 1. Pending, Resolved and Potential Lawsuits By The Receiver 

  (a). Discovery Efforts  

Since the inception of the Receivership, the Receiver has undertaken substantial 

discovery, which has been described in previous fee applications and reports filed with the Court.  

The Receiver’s discovery efforts through the current reporting period have narrowed 

substantially, focusing heavily on a few potential claims against certain investors.  During the 

current reporting period the Receiver has conducted interviews and performed a targeted review 

of electronically stored information received from certain subpoena recipients in connection with 

the investigation of those potential claims and settlement negotiations concerning those claims.   

(b). Investor Claims   

In total, the Receiver has recovered to date false profits in the amount of $6,203,134.  The 

Receiver also reached a settlement agreement with Relief Defendant W.B. Dixon Stroud. Jr. and 

several related trusts for the payment of $2.1 million, which represents a combination of false 

profits and return of principal.6  The Court approved that settlement on June 19, 2012 and 

payment was received on June 22, 2012.  The Receiver has concluded that substantially all of the 

false profits have been recovered, and the remaining claims the Receiver continues to pursue 

against investors relate primarily to claims for principal.  

During the current reporting period the Receiver’s investigatory and discovery efforts 

have focused heavily on the analysis of potential principal clawback and tort claims against 

Investors and others who executed tolling agreements (the “Tolling Investors”).  In developing 

his claims the Receiver conducted numerous witness interviews and depositions and continued 

his review of the documents received from the subpoena recipients and certain electronically 

                                                 
6 The amount of profit vs. principal cannot be broken down as to this investor because the Receiver and the investor 
disputed the manner in which profits should be calculated.  Therefore, the settlement resolved the dispute with a 
lump sum payment. 
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stored information (“ESI”).  During the current reporting period, the Receiver reviewed 

additional ESI he received from two potential principal clawback investors and is currently 

analyzing his potential claims in light of this new data.  The Receiver expects to issue formal 

demands or updated demands to those Tolling Investors against whom he believes he has claims 

within the next several weeks.    

In an effort to resolve certain claims outside of formal litigation, the Receiver engaged in 

mediation with thirteen of the Tolling Investors during the current reporting period.  The 

Receiver has reached a settlement with those thirteen investors in the Acorn Entities to resolve in 

their entirety any claims that the Receiver contends he may have  against those investors 

(together, the “Settling Parties”).  The Settling Parties have agreed to pay $5,500,000.00 to 

amicably resolve those potential claims and have agreed not to assert any claims against the 

Receivership Estate.  The Settling Parties expressly deny any liability for any claims the 

Receiver contends that it may have against them.  Those funds will be paid to the Receiver 

before the end of the current calendar year.     

(c). Gifts and Donations to Charitable, Religious and Political 

Organizations  

The Receiver has sought to recover all known fraudulent transfers made by the 

Receivership Entities to charitable, religious and political organizations.  Through these efforts, 

the Receiver has recovered approximately $464,648 since the inception of the Receivership.  The 

Receiver continues his review of the factual and legal issues in connection with his potential 

claims against the remaining Tolling Charitable Organizations, and will continue to attempt to 

resolve any disputes with them outside of formal litigation.  To that end the Receiver has issued 

three demands to Charitable Organizations that currently have tolling agreements in place, and 
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will file complaints against those entities if those demands are not resolved within the next 

quarter (October 1, 2012 – December 31, 2012).   

 (d). Loans and Other Payments from Various Persons and Entities  

The Receiver has sought to recover a number of unpaid loan balances and other related 

transactions on behalf of the Receivership.  In total, the Receiver identified approximately $1.4 

million due from various entities.  To date, the Receiver has reached settlement agreements to 

recover the majority of these funds.   

The remaining portion of funds relate primarily to the Receiver’s interest in Monteagle 

Media.  D.A. Young, and three others entities, loaned a ticket brokerage business known as 

Monteagle Media a total of $440,000 under the terms of a promissory note dated December 28, 

2005.  Mr. Young’s share of the loan was $135,000, or approximately 30.7% of the loan amount.  

The loan matured on June 30, 2008, but Monteagle has not repaid Mr. Young’s share of the loan.  

Brad Mackler, a Monteagle officer, personally guaranteed the loan for the principal sum of 

$140,800, plus pre and post-maturity interest, fees, and costs under the terms of a December 27, 

2005 guaranty agreement.  On September 19, 2011, the Receiver filed suit against Mr. Mackler 

in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, seeking to enforce the 

guarantee agreement.  In February, the Receiver entered into a settlement agreement with Mr. 

Mackler, which was approved by the Court.  Under that settlement agreement, Mr. Mackler 

agreed to pay the Receiver $30,000 in three equal installments of $10,000, all of which have now 

been paid. 

(e). Lawsuit Against Accounting Firm 

   
On December 13, 2011 the Receiver settled its case against the former accounting firm 

and filed a stipulation of dismissal of his complaint on March 28, 2012.  More detailed 
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descriptions of the claims and the settlement are included in the Receiver’s prior reports and fee 

applications. 

(f). Damage Claims Against Brokers 

The Receiver has settled his claims against the brokerage and the registered 

representative that maintained and serviced the main brokerage account for the Acorn Entities, 

and had also referred a number of investors to Mr. Young.  The Receiver and the brokers agreed 

to a settlement of the Receiver’s claims in exchange for the payment of a combined $80,000.  

The Court approved the Receiver’s proposed settlement with the brokers on June 8, 2010.  

$47,500 of the total settlement amount has been paid to date, with the remaining portion to be 

paid in installments through the end of 2012.     

(g). Damage Claims Against Other Persons and Entities   

Although additional damages claims may come to light, the Receiver is not currently 

pursuing any damages claims beyond those described in the previous paragraphs.   

2. Claims against Receivership Assets  

Other than creditor claims submitted to the Receiver, which have been or will be 

addressed through the Court approved claims resolution process, no claims are currently pending 

against the Receivership Entities other than a complaint brought by John H. Flournoy and 

Benjamin H. Hardaway, and a complaint brought by Thomas Clint Cheek, both of which are 

discussed below, and no claims against the Receivership were otherwise settled or resolved 

during this reporting period.  

  (a) Flournoy Action  

 On June 11, 2009, after the Court froze the assets of D.A. Young, et al., John H. Flournoy 

and Benjamin H. Hardaway filed suit against D.A. Young and Acorn Capital Management, LLC 
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in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Georgia, No. 4-09-cv-67 (CDL) 

(“Flournoy Action”).  That action is described in greater detail in previous fee applications and 

Receiver’s Reports.  The Flournoy Action remains stayed pending the resolution of the 

Receivership. 

  (b) Cheek Action  

In November of 2010, Thomas Clint Cheek filed a lawsuit, captioned Cheek v. Young, et 

al., No. 2010 CA 028253, against D.A. Young and Neely Young in the Circuit Court of Palm 

Beach County, Florida.  The Cheek action is described in greater detail in previous fee 

applications and Receiver’s Reports.  It remains stayed pending resolution of the Receivership.  

D. Property Liquidation 

The Receiver undertook the following tasks with respect to the various forms of property 

in the Receivership Estate since the filing of the last Report and Interim Fee Application7: 

 1. Tangible Property  

 Under the terms of a settlement agreement between Neely Young and the Receiver, Ms. 

Young had the right to request the return of certain items of personal property that were at the 

time of settlement in the Receiver’s possession, including jewelry and other household goods  in 

which Ms. Young claimed she held an ownership interest.8  Ms. Young was required to make her 

request to the Receiver by no later than November 21, 2011.  She did not make any request to the 

Receiver by that date, and she has not made any request for the return of personal property as of 

the date of this Report.  Accordingly, under the terms of the settlement agreement, the Receiver 

auctioned the vast majority of the tangible property remaining in the Estate on April 9, 2012 and 

                                                 
7 Items that were fully liquidated or otherwise disposed of during the period covered by previous Reports have not 
been included in the narrative descriptions below.  
8 A more complete description of the settlement of the Receiver’s claims against Neely Young can be found in the 
Receiver’s Tenth Interim Fee Application and Quarterly Report (Docket No. 283, pp. 13-14). 
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May 11, 2012, which resulted in a gross return to the Receiver of $11,536.50.  For the April 9 

and May 11 auctions, the Receiver paid the auctioneer, Martin Auctioneer, a $3,000 commission 

and $2,500 for expenses related to labor and advertising for the auctions and for disposal charges 

for property with nominal to no value that could not be liquidated, leaving the Estate with a net 

return on the auctions of $6,036.50.  Additionally, on June 15, 2012, the Receiver auctioned an 

engraved shotgun.  The shot gun sold for $1,200.  The Receiver paid a $120 commission to 

Conestoga Auction, resulting in a net return to the Estate of $1,080. 

 The tangible property now remaining in the Estate consists of several pieces of jewelry 

that the Receiver is in the process of liquidating. 

2. Intangible Property 

 The Receivership Estate includes intangible property resulting from D.A. Young’s use of 

fraudulently obtained funds to invest, for his own benefit, in the following entities:  

• Red Abbey Venture Partners, L.P. (a partnership formed to invest in the securities of 
entities in the life sciences industry) 
The Receiver received a partner distribution of $20,513 in connection with this 
investment in April.  The Receiver is attempting to liquidate the Receivership’s 

partnership interest in this entity.   
 

• Monteagle Media, Inc. (a closely held ticket brokerage business) 
The Receiver recovered $7,985.58 as part of a bankruptcy liquidation proceeding with 
respect to Mr. Young’s 30.7% interest in a loan made to that entity.  Early in 2012, the 
Receiver received notice that the Monteagle bankruptcy estate may have additional funds 
available for distribution to creditors.  After filing a proof of claim, the Receiver received 
an additional $1,350 from the Monteagle bankruptcy estate on May 1, 2012.    
Additionally, the Receiver entered into a now fully performed settlement agreement, 
approved by the Court, with Brad Mackler, the guarantor of a $135,000 loan that D.A. 
Young made to Monteagle Media in 2005.  For further discussion of that settlement 
agreement, see the Loans and Other Payments from Various Persons and Entities section 
on page 7 above.              
 

• Pipex Pharmaceutical, Inc. (successor by merger of Effective Pharmaceuticals, Inc.)  
The Receiver has determined that fraudulent proceeds were used to purchase stock for the 
Young’s children worth approximately $50,000 and is attempting to recover those assets 
or funds derived therefrom. 



11 
 

 

• SUNRx Investors, LLC, ( a limited liability company formed to invest in SUNRx, LLC, a 
business that provides administrative services to community health organizations) 
Mr. Young contributed between $147,000 and $200,000 as a private equity investment in 
the entity, either on behalf of himself or his children.  The receiver is now in the process 
of reviewing documents related to those investments and is in contact with general 
counsel for SUNRx to discuss those contributions. 
 

E. Summary of Creditor Proceedings  

This Court approved the Receiver’s proposed Claims Resolution Process on May 14, 

2010 establishing a procedure for determining the claim amounts of all known Investor 

Creditors9 and Trade Creditors of the Receivership Estate.  Attached hereto as Exhibit C is the 

summary schedule of the reconstructed limited partner account balances after elimination of the 

fictitious profits, identified by Investor Number, based on available information and 

documentation.   

In accordance with the approved procedure, the Receiver assessed all claims from 

investors and creditors submitted before the July 16, 2010 Claims Bar Date.  The vast majority of 

those claims were finalized through the claims procedure without Court involvement.  However, 

a small number of claims remained unresolved by the conclusion of the claims process, and the 

Receiver filed an omnibus motion seeking to resolve them.  Following a hearing, the Court 

issued an order resolving the remaining claims.  One investor, Investor No. 18, filed a motion for 

clarification of the Court’s Order, which was denied.  Investor 18 subsequently filed a notice of 

appeal.  Following participation in the appellate mediation program, the parties involved in the 

appeal agreed to settle the dispute.  The settlement involved the recalculation of Investor 18’s 

and Oak Grove’s claim amounts.  The Receiver submitted a motion to this Court seeking to 

                                                 
9 Investor Creditors are defined as investors that suffered a net loss, i.e., investors that contributed more than they 
withdrew from the fund.   
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approve the recalculated claim amounts of each on March 21, 2012, and provided notice of the 

motion to all creditors.  The Court approved the recalculation of those claims on April 12, 2012. 

On February 22, 2011, the Court approved the Receiver’s first proposed interim 

distribution of $5 million, as well as the Receiver’s proposed “Rising Tide” distribution 

methodology.10  Distribution checks totaling $5 million were issued on March 29, 2011.  On 

November 29, 2011, the Court approved the Receiver’s second proposed interim distribution of 

$6 million.  Distribution checks totaling $6 million were issued on December 16, 2011.11  The 

Receiver expects to make a recommendation for a third interim distribution pending further 

developments in the Receiver’s negotiations with the IRS.  

F. Tax Issues 

The Receiver retained Certified Public Accountant Alan Winikur of Zelnick, Mann and 

Winikur as well as attorney David Flynn with the law firm of Myers, Brier & Kelly, LLP 

(formerly Lundy & Flynn LLP) to assist the Receiver in addressing various Federal and State tax 

matters and prepare necessary tax filings on behalf of the Receivership.   

The Receiver’s tax attorneys are also in discussions with the IRS concerning tax matters 

potentially impacting the Receivership.  Specifically, the Receiver has sought a closing 

agreement from the IRS similar to those the IRS has previously agreed to with other federal 

receivers that would make clear that the Receiver and the Receivership Estate have no liability 

for federal taxes under the circumstances of this case.  Negotiations concerning a closing 

                                                 
10 The Rising Tide method seeks to create equality between investors that received no withdrawals during the life of 
their investment and those that were able to recover some portion, but less than all, of their investments during the 
operation of the fraudulent scheme, by offsetting an investor’s pro rata distribution share with any pre-distribution 
withdrawals received.  For a complete description of the Receiver’s proposed plan, please refer to the Motion to 
Approve Proposed Plan of Interim Distribution, Docket No. 198, filed on December 22, 2010. 
11 The total amount distributed to investors of the $6 million approved by the court was $5,856,195.59.  The 
remaining $143,804.42 of the distribution has been designated for Investor 39 and placed in escrow due to the 
pending lawsuit the Receiver filed against that investor.  This action is currently being held in civil suspense while 
the parties attempt to resolve the matter. 
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agreement have been ongoing for nearly a year, but the IRS to date has declined to enter a 

closing agreement.  The Receiver’s tax attorneys, with the assistance of the SEC, are continuing 

their attempts to resolve this issue with the IRS through discussions with representatives of the 

IRS and the Department of Justice.  Based on recent discussions, timely resolution may require 

the Receiver to take a position on the IRS claims in this Court. 

G. Receivership Books and Records 

 The treasury function for the Receivership is being undertaken primarily by counsel to 

the Receiver, Conrad O’Brien PC, and the forensic accountant to the Receiver, Kroll.  Tasks 

include managing the Estate’s funds, reconciling accounts on a monthly basis, and managing the 

review and approval of critical payables.  Other responsibilities include working with vendors to 

ensure that bills critical to the Receivership’s operation and asset preservation are accounted for 

and paid in a timely manner.  Kroll is also maintaining the accounting books for the Receivership 

Estate. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Dated:  November 8, 2012      /s/ Kevin Dooley Kent   

       Patricia M. Hamill, Esquire 
       Kevin Dooley Kent, Esquire 
       Attorney I.D. Nos.: PA 48416/85962 
       Conrad O’Brien PC 
       1515 Market Street, 16th Floor 
       Philadelphia, PA 19102-1921 
       Telephone: (215) 864-9600 
       Facsimile: (215) 864-9620 
       Counsel for Louis C. Bechtle, Receiver 
     



 

 

RECEIVER’S PLAN FOR RECEIVERSHIP ESTATE ACTIVITIES 

 

ANTICIPATED 

DATE 

ACTION ITEM COMMENTS 

Ongoing – Target 
completion during early 
2013 

Interim Distributions The Receiver made his first interim 
distribution on March 29, 2011 and a 
second distribution of $6 million 
December 14, 2011.  Pending further 
developments in negotiations with the 
Internal Revenue Service described in the 
Receiver’s Report, the Receiver will make 
a recommendation to the Court regarding 
the timing and amount of a third interim 
distribution. 

Ongoing – Target 
completion during early 
2013 

Investigation and Disposition of 
Receivership interests in three 
private equity investments. 

Receiver to determine most appropriate 
avenues for recovery and possible 
liquidation of three presently unliquidated 
privately held companies. 

Ongoing – Target 
completion during early 
2013 
 
 
 
Ongoing – Target 
completion during early 
2013 
 
 

Institute Litigation as Necessary 
to Recover: 
 
 
 
Limited Partner Withdrawals 
and Contributions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Litigation will be instituted where 
negotiation fails to resolve the following 
Receiver’s claims: 
 
 
The Receiver is engaged in an ongoing 
review of documents in connection with 
potential claims for the return of principal 
contributions in Acorn.  
 
 
 

2013 Final Distributions and Wind 
Down Receivership 

Assuming the Receiver is able to resolve 
all of the currently pending or potential 
litigations, the Receiver would attempt to 
distribute the remaining receivership assets 
and take appropriate measures to terminate 
the Receivership.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this date a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
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DATED: November 8, 2012     /s/ Kevin Dooley Kent           
       Kevin Dooley Kent 
 















 

 

EXHIBIT B 



SEC v. Acorn Capital Management, LLC, et al.
Summary of Sources and Uses of Receivership Funds

Sources of Funds:

Money Recovered from Acorn and Young Accounts 4,808,192$          

Sale of Real and Personal Property 7,194,311            

Third Party Litigation Income: 

         Net Winner Clawbacks 8,303,134$  

         Returned Charitable Contributions/Gifts 464,648       

         Other Proceeds 3,832,138    

Total Third Party Litigation Income 12,599,920          

Interest and Miscellaneous Other 149,827               

Total Sources of Funds 24,752,250          

Uses of Funds:

Expenses Related to the Preservation of Receivership Assets 573,872               

Disbursement to Receiver or Other Professionals 4,500,336            

Disbursements to Investors/Claimants 10,856,196          

Return of Non-Receivership Assets 30,000                 

Total Uses of Funds 15,960,404          

Unrealized Gain/Loss 525                      

Cash balance of Receiver's Fund at 9/30/12 8,792,371$          

Outstanding Claims and Professional Fees

Investor/Other Claimants 21,277,004$        

Oak Grove Claim 2,196,273            

Holdback of Professional Fees 942,757               

Unpaid Professional Fees and Expenses  [1] 193,831               

Total Claims 24,609,865$        

[1]:  These amounts have not been paid for reasons disclosed in this report. 

09/30/12

                         

                     



EXHIBIT C 

  






